
Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society

AGENDA

Annual General Meeting April 25, 2021

1:00 PM - 3:00 PM

1. Call to order

2. Motion to approve agenda

3. Motion to approve minutes of April 26, 2020 Annual General Meeting

4. Reports

a. Board: Gerrit Bjalek, Chair
b. Treasurer: Cam McCormick, Treasurer
c. Member Services Committee: Stuart Muir, MSC Chair
d. Diversity and Inclusion Advisory Committee: Rebecca Taylor, DAIAC Chair
e. Scholarship Committee: Alex Draper, Scholarship Committee Chair
f. Producer: Terry Wickham, Producer
g. Manager of Volunteers: Marianne Stover, Manager of Volunteers

Motion to accept reports as presented:

5. Motion to set Annual Membership Fees

6. Motion to Appoint Auditors

7. Election of Board Members (Three 3-year terms)
a. Review of voting procedures
b. Call for nominations for 3-year terms (Chair seconds all nominations)
c. Speeches by candidates
d. Motion to accept ballot counter and scrutineer
e. ELECTION

----------------------------------------------REFRESHMENT BREAK----------------------------------------------

f. Election results

8. Election of Board Members (One 2-year term)
a. Call for nominations for 2-year term (Chair seconds all nominations)
b. Speeches by candidates
c. ELECTION
d. Election results
e. Motion to destroy ballots

9. Introduction of Visual Image

10. Open Forum

11. Acknowledgement of Board Members Completing Terms

12. Motion to Adjourn
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Minutes

Annual General Meeting
April 26, 2020 - DRAFT

1. Call to order 1:08 p.m. by Gerrit Bjalek, EFMFS Chair
The Chair opened the meeting by stating that quorum had been met. He acknowledged
our presence on Treaty 6 land and territory.
A representative of the festival's external auditors (PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP) were
present. There was a review of the contents of the meeting materials that were provided to
members in attendance (agenda, minutes of 2019 AGM, copies of board reports, bylaws
and minutes of the previous year were on the website and available for review by
members. The rules for voting were reviewed.

2. Approval of Agenda
Motion to approve the agenda.
Chris Olsen, Terry Davies (M/S/C)

3. Approval of Minutes
Motion to approve the minutes of April 14, 2019 AGM as amended.
Stuart Muir, Greer Currie (M/S/C)

4. Reports
a. Board of Directors report: Gerrit Bjalek - Board Chair
b. Treasurer's Report/Endowment Fund: Carol Jones - Treasurer
c. Member Services Committee Report: Stuart Muir - Committee Chair
d. Report from the Producer - Terry Wickham

Additional comments to the report:
i. Exploring ways to support local artists this year

ii. Not releasing this year’s lineup because hope to book most of them for
next year

e. Report from the Manager of Volunteers: Marianne Stover

Motion to accept reports as presented.
Terry Davies, Kathie Goertz Thompson (M/S/C)

5. Motion to accept the current membership fees
Motion that the Annual Membership Fees for the EFMF Society for 2020/2021 for
volunteers remain unchanged at $20 for an individual and $30 for a family.
Michelle Guest-Moore, Terry Davies (M/S/C)

6. Motion to appoint auditors
Motion that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP be appointed as auditors for the year
ending January 31, 2021
Carol Jones, Percy Odynak (M/S/C)

7. Election of Board Members (Three 3-year terms)
a. Review of voting procedures
b. Call for nominations for 3-year terms (Chair seconds all nominations)
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i. Larry Bejcar nominated by David Fisher
ii. Claire Tunney nominated by Andrew Currie

iii. Cam McCormick nominated by Marilyn MacGillivray
iv. Gerrit Bjelek nominated by Trevor Moyer
v. Lacey Untereiner nominated by Colyn O’Reilly

vi. Stephen Wreakes nominated by Eric Kozakiewicz
vii. Michelle Biehn Holland nominated by Vicky Rogers

c. Speeches by candidates
d. Call for ballot counters and scrutineers

Motion to accept Richard Stuart and Shauna Stewart as ballot counters and Anna
Sereda (our PwC representative) as scrutineer
Ron Levoie, Andrew Currie (M/S/C)

e. Election
f. Election results: Stephen Wreakes, Gerrit Bjelek & Cam McCormick

8. Election of Board Members (One 1-year term)
a. Call for nominations for 1-year terms (Chair seconds all nominations)

i. Claire Tunney nominated by Andrew Currie
ii. Larry Bejcar nominated by David Fisher

iii. Michelle Biehn Holland nominated by Vicky Rogers
iv. Lacey Untereiner nominated by Melanie Cheek

b. Speeches by candidates
c. Election
d. Election results: Claire Tunney
e. Motion to destroy ballots

Marsha Guthrie, Ryan Dunch (M/S/C)

9. Open Forum
a. Edmonton Ski Club building update? – no plans to replace that building at this

point.
b. Volunteers would be happy to do site improvement projects this summer if

allowed. Geoff does have some projects he is considering if he can fund them.
c. Suggestion the board consider a policy on gender balance of the board, as well as

other minority groups. Bridget Stirling offered to lead a working group and do
research.
Motion that the Board forms a working committee at the first board meeting
following the 2020 AGM to look at diversity and gender diversity within the
Board and broader society.
Greer Currie, Chelsea Donelon (M/S/C)

10. Thank you to outgoing board members Carol Jones, Craig Moses & Chelsea Donelon

11. Adjournment: Karen Kennedy  4:25 pm



Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT

Annual General Meeting: April 25, 2021

Highlights

● Established the Diversity and Inclusion Advisory Committee.
● Approved two new policies, the IT Policy and the CCV Surveillance Policy.
● Embraced the use of Zoom and G-Suite and electronic records to serve the EFMFS during the

ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.
● Conducted a productive day-long strategic planning session.
● Built an internal Board of Directors website (“the Board Hub”) to facilitate greater

collaboration on EFMFS priorities, and orient members.
● Set-up a policy inventory to support the review and maintenance of EFMFS policies.

Active Committees

● Executive Committee (EXEC)
● Finance Committee (FIN)
● Member Services Committee (MSC)
● LRT Liaison Committee - Ad Hoc

● Don Snider “Go Wildly Forward”
Scholarship Committee (SCHL)

● *NEW* Diversity and Inclusion Advisory
Committee (DAIA)

Member Committees Term Status

● Gerrit Bjalek, Chair
● Andrew Currie, Chair
● Cam McCormick, Treasurer
● Claire Tunney, Secretary
● Peter Guest
● Brad Odsen
● Shelley Morrison
● Stuart Muir
● Vacancy

EXEC
EXEC; MSC; FIN
EXEC; FIN
EXEC; SCHL
SCHL
FIN
DIAI;FIN
MSC

Year 1 / 3
Year 2 / 3
Year 1 / 3
Year 1 / 1
Year 3 / 3
Year 3 / 3
Year 2 / 3
Year 2 / 3
Year 1 / 3

Policy Updates

1. IT Policy
● Outlines the appropriate use of “IT Resources,” which include IT services such as

wireless internet and network connection; email; printing; G Suite; etc. and IT
equipment that the EFMF owns, operates or sources from external parties for the use of
employees, volunteers,  society members, and others.

2. Closed Circuit Video (CCV) Surveillance Policy
● Regulates CCV installations, monitoring and recording on all City of Edmonton owned

properties utilized by the EFMF and ESC where CCV systems are employed, and to
satisfy the City of Edmonton's requirement for such a policy when CCV is in use on its
property.
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Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT

Annual General Meeting: April 25, 2021

Chair’s Address

By any measure, this has been a challenging year. We've all faced our own personal issues, and come
through them, so far, with varying degrees of success. I know I’ve struggled with personal, professional,
and financial problems recently, and I know I’m not alone. Collectively, we suffered a loss last summer.
The cancellation of the 2020 festival was disappointing for us all, but we managed to work our way
through. Although we weren’t able to gather in the park, thanks to the hard work of our staff, and the
cooperation of volunteers, patrons, and artists, we were able to enjoy “The Hill” at home.

This has also been a real test of strength for our organization, and I'm happy to say that we have not just
survived this past year, but have actually come through it stronger. The efforts of a dedicated
membership and our hard working staff mean that our society is still financially sound, and now better
prepared to face problems in the future. But the pandemic isn't quite done with us yet. Vaccinations are
here and are being distributed. That means that we will likely be able to visit with our festival friends
and family over the summer, but it probably won’t be enough to see the 2021 festival return to normal.
Terry has shared a few ideas, but really, it’s still too early to tell what August will look like.

Like you, during this time, the board has been keeping busy at work. There was a full day retreat where
we discussed the long-term success of the festival, and looked into refreshing the vision of the society.
We launched an independent committee to work on inclusion and diversity on the board and in the
society. We worked on improving the process for orienting new board members and better informing
prospective members. Along with the staff and some supportive volunteers, we helped develop a closed
circuit video policy to help keep our assets, patrons, and volunteers safe. And thanks to the efforts of
some very talented and dedicated board members, the Board has a new internal website to facilitate
remote collaboration between meetings, and a policy inventory that will help ensure our policies remain
up-to-date.

On a personal note, I will be stepping away from my role as the Chair to make way for new members
and new ideas. I will spend my remaining time on the board supporting the other members working
toward our goals. Before I do that, I want to take this opportunity to thank the board members that I've
had the pleasure of serving with, and thank all those who will stand for election today. The genuine
concern and passion for the festival that comes from electing active volunteers is part of what gives us
our strength.

Gerrit Bjalek
Chair - Board of Directors, Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society
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Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society

TREASURER’S REPORT

Annual General Meeting: April 25, 2021

Highlights

● In a relatively good financial position despite cancellation of festivals due to Covid-19.
● Casino is still slated to proceed later in the year.
● Lots of uncertainty with VoC and impacts on public health measures and implications for the

EFMFS.

On April 12, 2021, members of the Audit Committee, Richard Stuart, Administrator for the Edmonton
Folk Music Festival Society, met via Google Meet with Anna Sereda and Anna Coghill of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, to review the audit report of the 2020 Financial Statements of the
Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society.

No significant issues were identified throughout the audit process and the Finance/Audit Committee
accepted the report as presented and it was subsequently accepted by the Board on April 16, 2021.

Unlike other festivals and arts-based non-profits, the Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society had a solid
financial position to have weathered the Covid-19 storm that forced the cancellation of the 2020 festival;
however, the future remains uncertain and hard decisions remain on the horizon if we continue to be on a
rollercoaster of lockdowns and throttled capacity limits.

The EFMF casino is bi-annual, and remains (for now) in the last quarter of 2021, however, whether that
occurs remains to be seen in the light of the evolving Covid-19 situation vis-a-vis public health orders
and gathering restrictions.  Obviously, if there is another lockdown, we would miss our casino and this
would impact our finances.

During this time, I would like to recognize Terry Wickham, Richard Stuart and previous Boards for their
forethought in establishing the financial stability of the festival, which has us in a very different fiscal
position than our comparable festivals and arts organizations.

On behalf of the Finance/Audit Committee I would like to thank Richard Stuart and Shauna Stewart for
their accuracy and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for their professionalism and the hard work involved in
conducting the audit and preparing the report, especially under trying circumstances this year.

It is my pleasure to recommend that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP be appointed as the auditors for the
year ending January 31, 2022.

Cam McCormick
Treasurer – Board of Directors, Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society
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PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Stantec Tower, 10220 103 Avenue NW, Suite 2200, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T5J 0K4 
T: +1 780 441 6700, F: +1 780 441 6776 
  
“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership. 
  

   

Independent auditor’s report 

To the Members of The Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society 

Our qualified opinion 

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for qualified opinion 
section of our report, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of The Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society (the Society) as at January 31, 2021 and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian 
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. 

What we have audited 
The Society’s financial statements comprise: 

x the statement of financial position as at January 31, 2021; 

x the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended; 

x the statement of operations for the year then ended; 

x the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and 

x the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 

Basis for qualified opinion 

In common with many not-for-profit organizations, the Society derives cash and in kind revenues, the 
completeness of which is not susceptible to satisfactory audit verification. Accordingly, verification of these 
revenues was limited to the amounts recorded in the records of the Society. In addition, there were 
donations and sponsorship in kind recorded in the prior year in the amount of $656,279 which was 
recorded as donations and sponsorship revenues and expenses but for which the Society cannot provide 
support as to the accuracy of the amounts. Therefore, we were not able to determine whether any 
adjustments might be necessary to donations and sponsorship revenue, expenses, excess of revenue 
over expenses and cash provided by operating activities for the years ended January 31, 2021 and 2020, 
current assets as at January 31, 2021 and 2020 and net assets as at the beginning and the end of the 
years ended January 31, 2021 and 2020. Our audit opinion on the financial statements for the year ended 
January 31, 2020 was modified accordingly because of the possible effects of these limitations in scope. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements section of our report. 



 
 

   

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our qualified opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Society in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 
financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Society’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Society or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Society’s financial reporting process.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

x Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 



 
 

   

x Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Society’s internal control. 

x Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

x Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Society’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Society to cease to continue as a going 
concern.  

x Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Edmonton, Alberta 
April 15, 2021 
  



 

The Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society 
Statement of Financial Position  
As at January 31, 2021 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Approved by the Board of Directors 
 

___________________________________ Director ___________________________________ Director 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

    

  
2021 

$  
2020 

$ 
     

Assets     
     
Current assets     
Cash  703,877  516,461 
Short-term investments (note 3)  -  400,000 
Accounts receivable (note 4)  158,340  161,521 
Inventory  48,650  51,751 
Prepaid expenses and deposits  116,320  33,385 
     
  1,027,187  1,163,118 
     
Long-term investments (note 3)  400,000  - 
     
Capital assets (note 5)  387,791  551,974 
     
  1,814,978  1,715,092 
     
Liabilities     
     
Current liabilities     
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 4)  12,390  18,714 
Deferred contributions (note 6)  30,280  430 
     
  42,670  19,144 
     
Unamortized external capital contributions (note 7)  130,000  148,385 
     
  172,670  167,529 
     
Net Assets     
     
Investment in capital assets (notes 5 and 8)  257,791  403,589 
     
Internally restricted operating reserve (note 3)  400,000  400,000 
     
Unrestricted  984,517  743,974 
     
  1,642,308  1,547,563 
     
  1,814,978  1,715,092 
     
Commitments (notes 15 and 16)     
     
 
 



 

The Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society 
Statement of Changes in Net Assets  
For the year ended January 31, 2021 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 

  

Investment 
in capital 

assets 
$  

Internally 
restricted 
operating 

reserve 
$  

Unrestricted 
$  

Total 
$ 

         
Balance – January 31, 2019  382,187  400,000  656,927  1,439,114 
         
Excess of revenue over expenses for the year  -  -  108,449  108,449 
Amortization of internally funded capital assets (i)  (194,428)  -  194,428  - 
Capital assets purchased with internal funds (ii)  215,830  -  (215,830)  - 
         
Balance – January 31, 2020  403,589  400,000  743,974  1,547,563 
         
Excess of revenue over expenses for the year  -  -  94,745  94,745 
Amortization of internally funded capital assets (i)  (156,294)  -  156,294  - 
Capital assets purchased with internal funds (ii)  10,496  -  (10,496)  - 
         
Balance – January 31, 2021  257,791  400,000  984,517  1,642,308 
         
i) Represents amortization of capital assets in the amount of $224,679 (2020 – $254,814) net of amortization 

revenue of external capital contributions of $68,385 (2020 – $60,386). 

ii) Represents capital assets purchased of $60,496 (2020 – $290,830) net of capital assets purchased with 
external funds of $50,000 (2020 – $75,000). 

 



 

The Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society 
Statement of Operations  
For the year ended January 31, 2021 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 

  
2021 

$  
2020 

$ 
     

Revenue     
Grants (note 12)  1,338,927  1,037,485 
Amortization of external capital contributions (note 7)  68,386  60,386 
Site retail operations  65,373  921,655 
Other   46,352  12,128 
Sponsorship (note 9)  35,000  293,833 
Donations (note 9)  9,681  559,725 
Interest  7,011  13,421 
Ticket sales  -  2,679,832 
Gaming  -  105,176 
Equipment rental  -  51,186 
     
  1,570,730  5,734,827 
     
Expenses     
Salaries and benefits  445,235  423,522 
Professional and contract fees (note 15)  326,052  466,414 
Amortization  224,679  254,814 
Production  134,722  1,402,305 
Administration  112,802  106,085 
Advertising/public relations  108,035  219,939 
Site retail operations  44,058  379,033 
Building  31,015  17,332 
Volunteers  25,760  412,051 
Gaming  19,041  37,130 
Artistic fees  3,500  1,687,260 
Equipment rental  981  41,016 
Tickets  105  132,321 
Other  -  34,597 
Edmonton Community Foundation (note 11)  -  12,559 
     
  1,475,985  5,626,378 
     
Excess of revenue over expenses for the year  94,745  108,449 
     
 
 



 

The Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society 
Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended January 31, 2021 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

  
2021 

$  
2020 

$ 
     

Cash provided by (used in)     
     
Operating activities     
Excess of revenue over expenses for the year  94,745  108,449 
Adjustment for     

Amortization of capital assets internally funded  156,294  194,428 
Amortization of capital assets externally funded  68,385  60,386 
Amortization of external capital contributions  (68,385)  (60,386) 
Gain on sale of capital assets  (40,000)  - 
     
  211,039  302,877 

Net change in non-cash working capital items (note 13)  (53,127)  (128,198) 
     
  157,912  174,679 
     
Investing activities     
Purchase of capital assets  (60,496)  (290,830) 
Proceeds on sale of capital assets  (40,000)  - 
     
  (20,496)  (290,830) 
     
Financing activities     
Amounts received in external capital contributions (note 7)  50,000  75,000 
     
Increase (decrease) in cash during the year  187,416  (41,151) 
     
Cash – Beginning of year  516,461  557,612 
     
Cash – End of year  703,877  516,461 
     
 
 



 

The Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society 
Notes to Financial Statements 
January 31, 2021 
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1 Purpose of organization 

The Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society (the Society) is a charitable society registered under the Societies 
Act of Alberta and is dedicated to presenting and promoting folk music in all its diversity in Edmonton and 
Alberta. 

The Society is a registered charitable organization and is exempt from income taxes. 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 

These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian accounting 
standards for not-for-profit organizations. The preparation of financial statements necessarily includes the use 
of estimates and approximations, which have been made using careful judgment. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. These financial statements have, in management’s opinion, been properly prepared 
within reasonable limits of materiality and within the framework of the accounting policies summarized below. 

Revenue recognition 

x Revenue from ticket sales is recognized when the services are provided. 

x Revenue from site retail operations is recognized when the goods are sold. 

x Unrestricted operating grants and other contributions are recognized as revenue in the year when 
receivable. 

x Externally restricted non-capital contributions are deferred and recognized as revenue in the year when 
related expenses are incurred. 

x Externally restricted capital contributions are recorded as deferred capital contributions until the amount is 
invested in capital assets. Amounts invested representing externally funded capital assets are then 
transferred to unamortized external capital contributions. Unamortized external capital contributions are 
recognized as revenue in the periods in which the related amortization expense of the funded capital asset 
is recorded. 

x Restricted contributions for the purchase of capital assets, which will not be amortized, are recorded as 
direct increases to net assets. 

Internally restricted operating reserve 

These funds are restricted in use by the Society’s board of directors and cannot be accessed by management 
without approval of the Board. 

Cash 

Cash consists of cash on hand and deposits with banks.  
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Investments 

Investments comprise guaranteed investment certificates. The investments are classified as current and called 
short-term investments when they have a maturity of greater than 90 days at acquisition and less than one year 
from the statement of financial position date. Investments are classified as non-current when they have a 
maturity of greater than one year from the statement of financial position date. 

Inventory 

Inventory is recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

Capital assets 

Capital assets are recorded at cost and amortization is recorded using the straight-line method at the following 
annual rates: 

Building   4%   
Computer hardware and software   33%   
All other capital assets   20%   

    
Impairment of capital assets 

When a capital asset no longer contributes to the Society’s ability to provide services, or the value of future 
economic benefits or service potential associated with the asset is less than its net carrying amount, its carrying 
amount is written down to the asset’s fair value or replacement cost. When a capital asset’s carrying amount is 
written down, a corresponding amount of any unamortized deferred capital asset contributions related to the 
capital asset is recognized as revenue, provided all restrictions have been complied with. 

Donated goods and services 

Donated goods and services are recorded at estimated fair value when received, provided fair value can be 
reasonably estimated and the materials or services would otherwise have been purchased. The use of 
management’s estimate could result in measurement uncertainty of these amounts. Volunteers contributed 
numerous hours in carrying out the activities of the Society. Because of the difficulty in determining their fair 
value, contributed volunteer services are not recognized in the financial statements. 

Foreign exchange translation 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect on the date of 
the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of 
exchange in effect as at the year-end. Any resulting foreign currency translation gains or losses are recorded in 
the statement of operations.  
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Notes to Financial Statements 
January 31, 2021 
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Financial instruments 

The Society’s financial assets include cash, investments and accounts receivable. Cash, investments and 
accounts receivable are accounted for at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Financial 
assets are initially recorded at fair value. 

The Society’s financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities. All financial liabilities are 
accounted for at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value.  

The fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction price, which is the fair 
value of the consideration given or received. Transaction costs on financial instruments measured at fair value 
are expensed when incurred. Purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at the trade dates. 

All derivative instruments, including embedded derivatives, are recorded at fair value unless exempted from 
derivative treatment as a normal purchase and sale. The Society has determined it does not have any 
derivatives, embedded or otherwise.  

3 Internally restricted operating reserve and restricted investment  

The internally restricted operating reserve and the restricted investment comprise two guaranteed investment 
certificates with a fair value of $400,000 (2020 – $400,000). The board of directors has restricted these funds to 
be used as an operating reserve to fund emergency expenses of the Society. 

4 Government receivables and remittances 

Goods and services tax receivable of $7,232 is included in accounts receivable as at January 31, 2021 (2020 – 
$15,126). Government remittances of $8,954 are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities as at 
January 31, 2021 (2020 – $8,257). 

5 Capital assets 

      2021  2020 
         

  
Cost 

$  

Accumulated 
amortization 

$  
Net 

$  
Net 

$ 
         

Tents and stages  1,081,053  904,232  176,821  287,567 
Office furniture and equipment  768,270  636,170  132,100  144,523 
Vehicles and mobile kitchen  500,679  445,633  55,046  77,354 
Building  354,677  334,955  19,722  33,910 
Computer hardware  43,274  39,172  4,102  8,620 
Computer software  6,065  6,065  -  - 
         
  2,754,018  2,366,227  387,791  551,974 
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Capital assets have been funded from the following sources: 

  
2021 

$  
2020 

$ 
     

Externally funded (note 7)  130,000  148,385 
Internally funded (note 8)  257,791  403,589 

     
  387,791  551,974 
     
6 Deferred contributions 

The balance of deferred contributions at the end of the year represents externally restricted non-capital 
contributions that will be recognized as revenue in the subsequent year when the related expenses are 
incurred. 

  
2021 

$  
2020 

$ 
     

Balance – Beginning of year  430  165 
Amounts received   30,280  430 
Amounts recognized as revenue  (430)  (165) 

     
Balance – End of year  30,280  430 
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7 Unamortized external capital contributions 

Unamortized external capital contributions reflect transactions accounted for in accordance with the accounting 
policy described in note 2. The balance at the end of the year represents the unamortized external capital 
contributions that will be recognized as revenue in future years. 

  
2021 

$  
2020 

$ 
     

Balance – Beginning of year  148,385  133,771 
Add: Amounts received in external capital contributions  50,000  75,000 
Less: Amortization recognized as revenue  (68,385)  (60,386) 
     
Balance – End of year  130,000  148,385 
     

8 Invested in capital assets 

  
2021 

$  
2020 

$ 
     

Capital assets – net (note 5)  387,791  551,974 
Less: Unamortized external capital contributions (note 7)  (130,000)  (148,385) 
     
  257,791  403,589 
     

9 Donated goods and services 

During the year, the Society received donated goods and services with a value of $nil (2020 – $548,571). The 
Society also received non-cash sponsorship revenue totalling $nil (2020 – $107,708) for the year. 

10 Fundraising 

The Society does not remunerate employees, other individuals or a fundraising business for soliciting funds 
from the public or whose duties involve fundraising. 

11 Edmonton Community Foundation 

Endowment funds have been established at Edmonton Community Foundation on behalf of the Society. The 
funds are open-ended to which the Society and others may make contributions. The assets of the funds are not 
included in the net assets of the Society as they are a permanent endowment under the direct control and 
management of Edmonton Community Foundation. The net income of the funds will be disbursed annually by 
the Edmonton Community Foundation board to the Society as a grant based on the accumulated balance at the 
end of the previous calendar year. In fiscal year 2021, $119,112 (2020 – $111,291) of the accumulated 
contributed amount was disbursed to the Society as a foundation grant and a further $nil (2020 – $12,559) was 
contributed to the funds by the Society.  



 

The Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society 
Notes to Financial Statements 
January 31, 2021 
 
 
 

 

 
 

(6)
 

 
     

12 Grants 

The Society receives various grants in order to fund operations. Grants received are as follows: 

  
2021 

$  
2020 

$ 
     

Alberta Foundation for the Arts (MAP)  397,335  360,176 
City of Edmonton  335,000  320,000 
Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy  220,300  - 
Edmonton Community Foundation  119,112  111,291 
Arts Presentation Canada Program (Heritage)  100,000  100,000 
Arts Presentation Canada Program (Supplementary)  100,000  100,000 
Arts Presentation Canada Program (COVID)  50,000  - 
Canada Emergency Rent Subsidy  12,646  - 
Canadian Summer Jobs Program (Site office)  4,534  9,281 
EFDEP Grant  -  17,598 
Canadian Summer Jobs Program (Box office)  -  14,089 
The SOCAN Foundation  -  4,000 
S.T.E.P. Program  -  1,050 
     
  1,338,927  1,037,485 
     

13 Net change in non-cash working capital items 

  
2021 

$  
2020 

$ 
     

Accounts receivable  3,181  (37,155) 
Inventory  3,101  (26,737) 
Prepaid expenses and deposits  (82,935)  (14,136) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (6,324)  (50,435) 
Deferred contributions  29,850  265 
     
  (53,127)  (128,198) 
     

14 Financial risk management 

Liquidity risk 

The Society is able to meet all financial liabilities with the current capital position and has no outstanding loans. 
See note 17 regarding the impact of subsequent events on liquidity. 

Credit risk 

The Society does not sell items to consumers on terms of credit. The Society is exposed to credit risk only 
through its cash, short-term investment and accounts receivable. The maximum amount of credit risk exposure 
is limited to the value of the balances as disclosed in these financial statements. 
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The Society manages its exposure to credit risk on cash and short-term investment by placing these financial 
instruments with a high credit quality financial institution. 

The credit risk exposure through accounts receivable is minimized because the majority of the receivables 
comprise grants and other amounts due from government agencies. 

Foreign currency risk 

The Society is exposed to foreign exchange risk, principally to the US dollar, through contracts with performing 
artists. 

As at January 31, 2021, the Society has a cash balance denominated in US dollars of $53,406 (2020 – 
$48,406), which is subject to foreign exchange risk. The Society manages this risk by monitoring changes to 
foreign exchange rates. The gain on foreign exchange during the 2021 fiscal year was $4,659 (2020 – gain of 
$6,891). 

15 Related party transactions, balances and obligations 

The Society renewed its contract for consulting services effective February 1, 2019 with a company controlled 
by a member of management of the Society. The total amount expensed and included in professional and 
contract fees for the year ended January 31, 2021 under this contract was $177,966 (2020 – $186,866). The 
amounts are recorded at the exchange amount established and agreed to by both parties. The future minimum 
payments associated with this contractual obligation are as follows: 

  $   
     

2022 177,966  
   

16 Commitments 

The Society has entered into a lease agreement with Jerry Forbes Centre Foundation, which is a not-for-profit 
organization. The term of the lease commences September 1, 2018 to August 31, 2058. The base rent is $nil 
plus operating costs based on actual expenditures.  

The Society has entered into agreements to commit to a number of guest accommodation rooms during the 
festival with a local hotel. The committed fees are as follows: 

  $   
     

2022  137,154   
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17 Subsequent event 

Subsequent to year-end, the Society cancelled the 2021 festival for various reasons linked to the coronavirus 
pandemic. This creates uncertainty regarding future revenues, expenditures and liquidity of the Society. 
Accordingly, management will continue to work on revisions to the Society’s forecasts and development plans 
in light of the current conditions. 

 



Diversity and Inclusion Advisory Committee

Report to the Membership
April 25, 2021

Committee Members: Jill Ferguson; Lynn Gourley; Kate Kozakiewicz; Shelley
Morrison (Board Liaison);  John Russell; Rebecca Taylor; Bridget Stirling

I. Committee Setup

● The terms of reference were decided on and approved by the committee at
our meeting on November 12.

● Highlights:

○ Our decided objectives are organized under six headings: Community
Engagement and Outreach; Develop an Understanding of specific diversity
and inclusion issues; Diversity, Inclusion, and Accessibility of the Festival
Grounds; Diversity and Inclusion Practices in Volunteer Community;
Diversity and Inclusion Education for Volunteers and Patrons; Develop
programs to improve diversity and inclusion for the Board of Directors.

○ Independent society member terms will be two years.
○ Board Members will be added to and/or removed from the committee

at the Board’s discretion.

II. Research Plan

● The committee is planning to conduct some research to better understand
the situation we are working with so that we can make more targeted
recommendations. A rough draft of a research plan and timeline were
created at the February 18 meeting, and will inform the committee’s other
activities moving forward. This will be a living document that we will adjust
and add to as necessary.

● Highlights:

○ We have divided our planned research into three key areas:
Inclusivity Policies; Patrons; Society, Board, Volunteers.

○ Specific research tasks exist under each key area and have been
laid out in a staged plan. It’s hard to have an exact timeline for each

1



stage because of the uncertainty caused by Covid, but we will work
through each stage as it becomes possible to do so, sometimes
working within multiple stages at once (where practical).

○ Stage 1 - currently in progress: summarizing what already exists,
understanding what similar organizations are already doing, and
creating frameworks for our research.

○ Stage 2 - planned for Fall 2021: creating research materials and
guidelines

○ Stage 3 - beginning early 2022 and continuing as needed: collecting
data

○ Stage 4 - ongoing after completion of Stage 3: reviewing and
understanding the data that has been collected. Some data, such as
opinion surveys and demographics of past Board leaders and
candidates, can be analyzed as soon as it comes in. Other research
analysis, such as patron, volunteer, and society member
demographics, will begin immediately but will have to be
continuously looked at over a number of years for the data to be
meaningful.

2



Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society

MEMBER SERVICES COMMITTEE REPORT

Annual General Meeting: April 25, 2021

Highlights

● Member Services Committee engagement work is more important than ever.
● Recognition of achievements during our Great Pause.
● Gratitude to MSC Members and the Manager of Volunteers

On behalf of the Members Services Committee, I am pleased to report that the 2020-2021 Edmonton Folk Music
Festival Society membership currently sits at 275 members, approximately 10% of the total volunteer base. The
Committee’s role has been even more important in this year of the “Great Pause.”

The Member Services Committee continues their work pertaining to:
1. Communications between the Board and the Society Members which is achieved through the EFMF

Society Members Facebook Group , newsletters, notices, and Member surveys.
2. Organizing Member events such as the Annual General Meeting (AGM), Members Preview Event and

the Winter Appreciation Party. This year the challenge was making these virtual events engaging at a
time everyone was craving being physically together.

3. Promoting growth in Society membership and assisting with member renewals.
4. Encouraging member participation at the AGM by working with EFMFS Board and staff to promote,

collect candidate biographies, and arrange distribution to members prior to the AGM.

We encourage engagement with our members, and I want to remind you some membership privileges:
● Insights into the operation and goals of our festival. You are often among the first to learn of plans for the

coming year.
● Advocacy for our festival through committee work and running for positions on our Board.
● Members only events.
● Occasional ticket giveaways.
● Comradery by way of our Facebook group and sharing of future local arts and music events. 
● Voting rights at the AGM. 

Our plans for 2021 include promoting awareness of the EFMF Society to all volunteers and encouraging all
Society Members to participate, ensuring we maintain a healthy and diverse membership. We also seek to increase
the engagement of our current members through social media and involvement in Society initiatives.

Thank you committee members Lee Bale, Karen Kennedy, Vicky Rogers, Dave Fisher, Colleen Emmott, and Jill
Day for your support and wisdom. This year we welcomed Michele Biehn-Hollands to our committee. Members
of our committee also participated in planning for and testing the functionality of our virtual Winter Appreciation
event and Annual General Meeting. They have brought energy, ideas, and diverse perspectives to our committee.

Absolutely none of our objectives would be achieved without the invaluable support of the EFMF office staff,
primarily, Marianne Stover, who is a constant source of encouragement and knowledge.

If you have any feedback or ideas, please come see me in a breakout room or feel free to contact me by email
membership@edmontonfolkfest.org.

Stuart MuirChair – Member Services Committee, Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society

1
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Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society
Annual General Meeting

The Don Snider “Go Wildly Forward” Scholarship Report
Submitted by The Don Snider “Go Wildly Forward” Scholarship Committee

April 13, 2021

2020 was the seventh year of the Don Snider “Go Wildly Forward” Scholarship. The Scholarship is an

Edmonton Folk Music Festival (EFMF) program that recognizes and honours EFMF volunteers who

demonstrate, through their actions and attitudes, a positive motivation to be engaged meaningfully in

the community and the world at large. Persons selected will have a spirit of adventure, a desire to

communicate, and a willingness to share their knowledge and experience with others. Don Snider

embodied these qualities over 40 years of working in the arts, as Production Manager of the EFMF for 21

years, and travelling the world.

The committee considered nine complete applications in 2020. No conflicts of interest were declared.

The committee met via Zoom on August 4, 2020. Seven applications were not recommended for awards.

Ranya El-Sharkawi was awarded two years of funding, with payments of $5,000 scheduled in the

autumns of 2020 and 2021. Some details about Ranya:

● Entered their second year of law school at the University of Victoria in September 2020.

● Studied Anishinaabe Constitutional Law, Cree Criminal Law, and Gitxsan Property Law.

● The program requires four years to complete and Ranya anticipates graduating in June 2023.

● Began volunteering with the Family Crew in 2016.

In 2020 funds were again available to provide a second award. Carissa Wasyliw was selected for a $2,000

one-time award. Some details about Carissa and an excerpt from a letter Carissa wrote to the

Committee:

● Began volunteering when they turned 18 and was assigned to the Concessions Crew.

● “I am writing to express my sincere gratitude for being selected as a recipient of the 2020 Don

Snider “Go Wildly Forward” Scholarship. It is a great honour to be considered of similar character

to Don. I hope to make his spirit proud by carrying forward with my education plans throughout

these uncertain times.

This fall I will be beginning my Master of Science program through Memorial University. The

focus of my thesis will be to understand how some aspects of environmental change are

impacting northern ecosystems and their communities. Eventually, I would like to live in the north

and contribute to my community by conducting meaningful research and providing strategies to

adapt to climate change. This financial assistance has brought me one step closer to this goal.

Thank you again for your generosity. I am very appreciative of your support, and it has inspired

me to continue ‘going wildly forward’ despite the tumultuous times. I will be sure to continue to

contribute to my community and spread the spirit of Folk Fest everywhere I go.”

In 2020 Zahro Hassan received their second year of funding.



Since the scholarship began in 2014, 12 students have received awards and $73,000 has been paid to

recipients. The success of this scholarship is a testament to EFMF’s exceptional volunteer program and

the positive contributions EFMF volunteers make to society.

A recap of the Don Snider “Go Wildly Forward” Scholarship Committee adjudication process is as follows:

● Copies of all the applications are provided to each Committee member and the

Edmonton Folk Music Festival Manager of Volunteers through the online portal.

● The Manager of Volunteers looks over the list of applicants and flags any concerns

regarding a volunteer’s status for the Committee to discuss.

● Any conflicts of interest are declared and the Committee member abstains from

participating in any conversations or providing any recommendations regarding that

applicant.

● Each Committee member provides an initial recommendation of “Yes,” “No,” or “Maybe”

for each applicant.

● The recommendations are compiled and the applicants are organized into tranches

based on the number of “Yes” votes they have received. This process allows the

Committee to focus its discussion in the adjudication meeting on the few applications

that received mostly “Yes” votes.

● A discussion at the Committee meeting determines the final recommendation to the

EFMF Society Board of Directors.

This process was followed to the satisfaction of the Committee in 2020. In 2021 the application is hosted

on Edmonton Community Foundation’s new online portal system which will also be able to host the

committee’s review process. After 2021, the Committee and EFMF staff will discuss whether the

Scholarship will continue to be hosted on Edmonton Community Foundation’s portal, or if an in-house

alternative can be planned for 2022. Recreating the application on a new portal afforded the opportunity

to further refine the information being collected from applicants. There was a further reduction in the

number of questions pertaining to applicants’ financial information in 2021.

A launch page has been created on EFMF’s website and can be found here:

https://edmontonfolkfest.org/scholarship/

In 2020 the committee consisted of:

● Alex Draper (Committee Chair)

● Linda Brenneman-Snider (Snider Family Representative)

● Peter Guest (Board Representative)

● Laurel Allison

● Alan Burant

● Marigold Kinley

● Katherine Goertz Thompson

● Larry Bejcar

● Claire Tunney

Marianne Stover served as a resource to the committee.

https://edmontonfolkfest.org/scholarship/


In 2021 the Committee is reviewing its Terms of Reference, creating an orientation document for new

members, and creating a rubric guide to help reviewers consistently evaluate applications.

In 2021 the panel anticipates selecting one recipient to receive a two-year award of $5,000 annually, and

a one-time $2,000 award. The application deadline for the Scholarship will be April 30, 2021. The

Committee will meet shortly afterward to determine a recipient.

Alex Draper
On behalf of the Don Snider “Go Wildly Forward” Scholarship Committee



Report for AGM   April 2021

What a strange year and we are in the middle of another one.

This report will be short. Financially we are maintaining. We have cleaned up any
outstanding debts to us and even posted a small surplus. I hope and expect that we
will be in the same position, financially, in 2022, as we were going into 2020.

Who knows what entertainment, or the virus, will look like this time next year.

We put an excellent Program on line last year with The Hill documentary, Mary
Chapin Carpenter doing Four Strong Winds and all the other pieces we put together
to help crafters, food vendors etc. Our merch sales were also strong and I was very
impressed with the all around team effort that our staff put in.

It will be difficult to match that this year. Live streaming is not very popular. Funders
would like us to live shows, but the virus likely has other plans. We will stay flexible
and see if there is anything we can do.

I am always available for questions through email or at the Zoom AGM.

Thank you for your continued support and efforts on behalf on our festival.

Terry Wickham ( Producer )



Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society

MANAGER OF VOLUNTEERS’ REPORT

Annual General Meeting: April 25, 2021

Highlights

● No active volunteers in 2020
● New volunteer training video project completed
● Built connections with volunteer managers from other festivals

Usually I begin these reports indicating the number of active volunteers in the previous year. In 2020, for the
first time in the festival’s history, we had no active volunteers. Despite this, volunteer engagement was strong
based on messaging and feedback; we simply feel volunteers are eager to return to their roles and community
once it’s safe to do so.

We were able to offer t-shirts at cost to volunteers in the 2020 year; in lieu of the line up on the back, we
included a list of all volunteer crews. We sold over 600 volunteer shirts and plan to offer these again in 2021.

A virtual volunteer party was held during the Saturday of the festival in 2020. There were approximately 150
participants who tuned in to hear Altameda play live from Toronto. While the turnout was smaller than
hoped, we received excellent feedback from those who did attend. There are no plans to offer this in future.

Administratively, we focused on organizing crew operation information, and identifying areas for follow up.
Elka created templates for coordinators to work on, which will function as both written information necessary
for the function of the festival, and as crew manuals. We plan to meet with all coordinator teams one-on-one
in 2021.

We focused much of our year on the creation of new volunteer training videos. We were able to secure a grant
for a temporary videographer, and filmed segments around the festival office through the summer and fall (as
COVID permitted). We will be uploading videos to Better Impact moving forward as part of a new volunteer
training module set up.

In 2020 the volunteer managers from the western folk music festivals began meeting once per month over
Zoom. A silver lining of the pandemic, we plan to continue these moving forward to support each other in the
administration of our volunteer programs. I also met regularly with the volunteer manager with the Edmonton
Fringe Festival, and we look forward to collaborating on training and other projects in future years.

Coordinator meetings were held in the spring and fall of 2020 over Zoom. Without regular planning
happening, these were fairly short but well received by coordinators who we want to keep in the loop. We
also held a Members and Coordinators Appreciation Event via Green Shows virtual platform in February.

Many thanks to Elka, our Assistant Manager of Volunteers, for her continued support and work during these
strange times. Thanks as always to Vicki Fannon, who continues to provide advice and lend an ear as needed.
Thanks to many of our volunteers and coordinators for their support during this tough time, as well as the
membership – more than ever, we know we can’t do this without you. Looking forward to continuing to
celebrate the festival with you, and getting back to the hill when we can.

Marianne Stover
Manager of Volunteers

1



Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society Page 1 of 4 
Minutes 

Board of Directors Meeting 
May 5, 2020 

 
1. Call to order 6:30 p.m. by Gerrit Bjalek 

In Attendance: Peter Guest, Gerrit Bjalek, Brad Odsen, Stephen Wreakes, Stuart Muir, 
Cam McCormick, Shelley Morrison, Andrew Currie, Claire Tunney 

Guests: Geoff Frisby, Terry Wickham, Jim Nakonechny & Mark Nolan (City of 
Edmonton 7:30-8:30) 

 
2. Approval of Agenda  

Motion  to approve the agenda.  
Brad / Cam (M/S/C) 

 
3. Election of Executive Committee  

a. Chair: Self-nomination – Gerrit - Acclaimed  
b. Vice-Chair: Self-nomination – Andrew - Acclaimed  
c. Treasurer: Self-nomination – Cam - Acclaimed  
d. Secretary: Self-nomination – Claire - Acclaimed  

 
4. Approval of Minutes  

Motion  to approve the minutes of April 7, 2020 and April 26, 2020.  
Stu / Shelley (M/S/C) 
Motion  to accept the minutes of April 26, 2020 AGM.  
Cam / Andrew (M/S/C) 

 
5. Correspondence  

n/a  
 

6. Reports 
a. Producer’s report  

● Moved past the disappointment of cancelling phase and are starting to 
move towards considering alternatives that we could do this year. 

b. Member Services Committee report  
● As presented  

Motion  to accept reports as presented.  
Peter / Shelley (M/S/C)  

 
7. New Business 

a. Working committee to look at diversity and gender diversity within the Board 
and broader society  

● Reviewed board gender breakdown from last 15 year.  
● Action: Stephen Wreakes & Claire Tunney to include Bridget Stirling and 

others in the creation of a Terms of Reference – supported by Andrew & 
Shelley.  

b. Gallagher Park Concept Plan – Jim Nakonechny & Mark Nolan, City of Edmonton  
● Presented Gallagher Park Draft Concept Plan Summary  
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● Working towards a digital release on the project website and Engage 

Edmonton. 
● Started last March about the vision and guiding principles. In Sept in the 

second open house engagement received feedback on park 
enhancements. Have now developed draft concept plan.  

● Detailed items like drainage and electricity would be the next level of 
detail, but agreed to add them as listed amenities.  

c. Orientation of new Board Members  
● New board members had an initial orientation previously.  
● EFMF access codes shared. 
● Action: Board members to print, sign and scan / take picture of the Oath 

of Confidentiality form and email them to our new Secretary Claire.  
d. Review – confirm board priorities for the year  

● Motion  to table to next board meeting. 
Brad / Stu (M/S/C) 

e. Annual Motions – i.e. Gaming (see Appendix 9.3 of Board Manual) 
(i) Motion  that the executive has signing authority on behalf of the Edmonton 

Folk Music Festival Society.  
Gerrit / Peter (M/S/C) 

(ii) Motion  that Festival Producer Terry Wickham and Festival Administrators 
Richard Stuart and Shauna Stewart have legal and financial signing 
authority on behalf of the Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society.  
Peter / Brad (M/S/C) 

(iii) Motion  to appoint Vice Chair as Casino Chairperson.  
Brad / Stephen (M/S/C) 

(iv) Motion  to appoint Festival Administrators Richard Stuart and Shauna 
Stewart as Raffle Chairperson.  
Stephen / Stu (M/S/C) 

(v) Motion  that Festival Producer Terry Wickham and Festival Administrators 
Richard Stuart and Shauna Stewart be authorized to apply for casino and 
raffle licenses and file affiliated reports on behalf of the Edmonton Folk 
Music Festival Society with the Alberta Gaming and Liquor Control Board.  
Stu / Cam (M/S/C) 

(vi) Motion  that for the purposes of gaming activities, all volunteers be 
considered members of the Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society.  
Cam / Shelley (M/S/C) 

(vii) Motion  that the CEO of the Edmonton Community Foundation and the 
Administrator of the Edmonton Folk Music Festival are authorized to sign 
on behalf of the Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society all certification 
documents required by the Canadian Arts and Heritage Sustainability 
Program – Endowment Incentives Component in order to authenticate the 
collection and deposit of private donations during the twelve months 
preceding the deadline of December 1 to the permanent endowment fund 
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established at the Edmonton Community Foundation for the Edmonton Folk 
Music Festival Society.  
Shelley / Andrew (M/S/C) 

(viii) Motion  that upon completion of the Endowment Incentives Grant, the 
Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society Board of Directors will, upon request, 
sign and thereby agree to comply with the requirements of the Governance 
Practice Disclosures Statement.  
Andrew / Claire (M/S/C) 

(ix) Motion  that Festival Producer Terry Wickham and Festival Administrators 
Richard Stuart and Shauna Stewart be authorized to apply for grants on 
behalf of the Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society.  
Claire / Gerrit (M/S/C) 

(x) Motion  that staff be directed to purchase Directors and Officers Liability 
Insurance with five million dollar liability for the period June 1, 2020 to May 
31, 2021.  
Gerrit / Peter (M/S/C) 

(xi) The auditor recommendation was to recognize the practice of Terry taking 
an advance for RRSP contributions in an annual motion or in his contract.  
Motion that Terry Wickham be provided an advance of his pay for RRSP 
contributions in February 2021. 
Peter / Brad (M/S/C) 

 
8. Old Business 

a. Review Action Log  
i. Research appropriate cybersecurity controls / actions – no update 

ii. edmontonfolkfest.org accounts for each board member – each board 
member will receive an edmontonfolkfest.org email accounts plus 4 
Executive accounts (aliased) and the Board account.  

 
9. Open Forum 

● Action: Coordinator happy hour Thurs, May 14th  5:30-7:30pm – any board 
members interested in helping to host breakout rooms to reach out to Marianne.  

 
10. Items for next meeting 

a. Appointment of committee chairs and members 
b. Appointment of Liaison Officer(s) 
c. Determine if a Board Retreat will be planned for this year 
d. Review – confirm board priorities for the year (tabled from May 5) 
e. Discuss summer meetings and timing of a Board retreat. 

 
11. Next Meeting Dates  

a. Coordinator happy hour – Thursday, May 14 5:30-7:30pm (optional) 
b. Board meeting – Tuesday, June 2, 2020 6:30pm 
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c. Board meeting – Tuesday, July 7, 2020 6:30pm (tentative) 

 
12. Adjournment:      9:25 pm - Brad 
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Board of Directors Meeting 
June 2, 2020 

 
1. Call to order 6:31 p.m. by Gerrit Bjalek 

In Attendance: Gerrit Bjalek, Andrew Currie, Peter Guest, Brad Odsen, Cam 
McCormick, Shelley Morrison, Stuart Muir, Claire Tunney, Stephen 
Wreakes 

Guests: Terry Wickham, Gordon Holt, Robert Meyer 
 

2. Approval of Agenda  
Motion  to approve the agenda.  
Shelley / Stu (M/S/C) 

 
3. Approval of Minutes  

Motion  to approve the minutes of May 5, 2020 Board of Directors Meeting. 
Brad / Andrew (M/S/C) 

 
4. New Members 

a. N/A 
 

5. Correspondence 
a. N/A 

 
6. Reports 

a. Producer’s report  
● Presented the draft No-Show Budget for 2020. 
● Continuing to explore opportunities to bring local artists to locations 

around the city for socially distant performances. 
b. Member Services Committee report  

● As presented. 
Motion  to accept reports as presented.  
Andrew/ Cam (M/S/C) 

 
7. New Business 

a. Appointment of committee chairs and members. 
● Board Committees: 

 

Committee Chair Director Director 

Finance Cam McCormick Shelley Morrison Brad Odsen 

Member Services Stuart Muir Andrew Currie Stephen Wreakes 

Dispute Resolution Ad Hoc Gerrit Bjalek To be selected as required. 
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● Other: 

- Don Snider Scholarship Committee (Peter Guest, Claire Tunney) 
b. Appointment of Liaison Officer(s) 

● Bob Meyer was re-appointed as the LRT Liaison Ad Hoc. 
● Gordon Holt was re-appointed as the Edmonton Ski Club Liaison Ad Hoc. 

c. Determine whether a Board retreat will be held this year 
● The board agreed to plan a retreat for August 29 or September 5. 
● Action: Andrew to reach out to the Staff regarding their availability. 

d. Discuss summer meetings and timing of potential Board retreat 
● The board will meet on July 7. 

- The primary focus of the meeting will be to plan the board 
retreat. 

- Format of meeting (in-person versus video conferencing) will be 
determined closer to the date. 

e. Introducing the draft IT Use Policy 
● Andrew presented a draft IT Policy for consideration.  

- The policy outlines the principles and rules that govern the 
appropriate use of EFMF technology resources. 

● Action: Board members to review the draft policy for discussion at the 
July 7 meeting. 

f. Update on draft Terms of Reference for Diversity/Inclusion working committee 
● Stephen presented a draft ToR for the working committee on 

diversity/inclusion. 
● Action: Board members to review the draft ToR and direct any questions 

or comments to Stephen. 
● Action: Andrew to provide Stephen with a list of Society members who 

expressed interest in the diversity/inclusion work at the AGM in April. 
 

8. Old Business 
a. Review Action Log  

i. Research appropriate cybersecurity controls / actions – no update. 
ii. edmontonfolkfest.org accounts for each board member – email addresses 

activated. Going forward all Board communication will be conducted 
through these accounts. 

b. Review self-evaluation survey results from last year’s Board – Initial discussion of 
Board priorities for the year 

● Three themes regarding priorities for the coming year that emerged from 
were: 

- Strategic planning. 
- Succession planning. 
- Orientation process for new board members. 

● A detailed set of priorities will be finalized at the upcoming retreat. 
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9. Open Forum 

● Action: Print / sign / scan oath of confidentiality and email to Claire by June 29. 
● Action: Claire to inventory Google Drive and then develop and implement a new 

file structure. 
● Action: Board members to review and confirm their contact information by June 

5  (“ Board Contact Information for 2020-21”). 
- The staff is requisition this information for administrative purposes. 

● Going forward Claire will present a Secretary’s Report at board meetings. 
 

10. Items for next meeting 
a. Review quarterly financial report 
b. Plan agenda for retreat 

 
11. Next Meeting Dates  

a. Board meeting – Tuesday, July 7, 2020 6:30 PM. 
 

12. Adjournment:    8:30 PM - Shelley. 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1IuiaXVREvk6pqiBLuQSS6EcBbwq96fdL/view?usp=sharing
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1. Call to order 6:31 p.m. by Gerrit Bjalek 

In Attendance: Peter Guest, Gerrit Bjalek, Brad Odsen, Stuart Muir, Cam McCormick, 
Shelley Morrison, Andrew Currie, Claire Tunney 
Regrets : Stephen Wreakes 
Guests : Terry Wickham 

2. Approval of Agenda  
Motion  to approve the agenda. → [Brad / Stu (M/S/C)] 

3. Approval of Minutes (“2FolkFestMinutes2June2020”) 
Motion  to approve the minutes of June 2, 2020. → [Andrew / Claire (M/S/C)] 

4. Reports 
a. Producer’s report 

- In camera. 
- CKUA will celebrate the festival by airing past performances and other 

moments captured over the years. 
b. Member Services Committee report 

- As presented. 
c. Secretary’s report 

- As presented. 
Motion  to accept reports as presented. → [Cam / Shelley(M/S/C)] 

5. New Business 
a. Review quarterly financial report 

- Action: Cam to provide an update on finances at the next meeting. 

b. Retreat agenda 
- There was consensus to build on the draft agenda developed by Claire. 
- Action: Claire to finalize the draft agenda with support from Andrew and 

Shelley. 

c. Use of Facebook/Instagram 
- Motion  to continue with the use of Facebook and Instagram until such 

time as a strategy for alternative modes of online engagement and 
advertising has been developed in consultation with the membership and 
staff. → [Claire / Cam (M/S/C)] 

d. Police presence at EFMF 
- Status update provided by Terry. 
- Terry and Geoff are actively engaged in conversations with the City of 

Edmonton surrounding policing at the Festival. The City has been 
receptive to our concerns and made adjustments where possible. 

- There was consensus to revisit this subject in the future as necessary. 
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6. Old Business 

a. Approve draft IT Use Policy 
- Motion  to approve draft IT Use Policy with changes as discussed. → 

[Andrew /Claire (M/S/C)] 
- Action: Andrew to make changes as discussed and incorporate the policy 

into the most current Board Manual. 

b. Diversity and Inclusion Advisory Committee 
- Action: Andrew to revise draft ToR as discussed. 
- Action: Claire to revise email invite as discussed. 
- Motion  to send draft email invites to EFMFS members interested in 

participating on the committee no later than July 10, 2020. → [Claire / 
Brad (M/S/C)] 

c. Review Action Log (“ EFMFS Board Action Items 2020-2021.xlsx ”) 

7. Open Forum 
a. Board members to promote the Hill at Home events, particularly participation in 

the “Four Strong Winds” sing-a-long video. 

8. Items for next meeting 
a. Board Retreat - Agenda to be finalized by July 18, 2020. 

9. Next Meeting Dates  
a. Board Retreat – August 29, 2020 8:45 AM - 4:45 PM at the Jerry Forbes Centre 

for Community Spirit. 

10. Adjournment: 8:34 PM → Shelley. 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1H3njEJVlZ9dLCYE0rNxhKwS1x-T5Qxmp/view?usp=sharing


Board of Directors Meeting 
Date & Time: September 8, 2020 @ 6:30 PM 

Location: N/A; videoconference 

Board Members: 

Present (5 required for quorum) Absent 

Gerrit Bjalek (Chair) Brad Odsen Claire Tunney (Secretary) Cam McCormick (Treasurer) 

Andrew Currie (Co-Chair) Shelley Morrison 

Peter Guest Stuart Muir 

Guests: N/A 

Minutes: 

1. Call to order
● 6:42 PM by Andrew Currie

2. Approval of Agenda
✳ Motion to approve the agenda. → Stu / Shelley (M/S/C)

3. Approval of Minutes (“ 3FolkFestMinutes7July2020”)
✳ Motion to approve the minutes of July 7, 2020. → Claire / Stu (M/S/C)

4. New Members
● N/A.

5. Correspondence
● N/A.

6. Reports
a. Producer’s Report

● Informal update provided to Chair.
● Next formal budget update is expected to be the actuals for the 2020 “no-show” budget.
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https://drive.google.com/file/d/1MvMLXKV1sGbdk6C8yNZECRVX4HVpJ8nn/view?usp=sharing


 

 Board of Directors Meeting 
Date & Time: September 8, 2020 @ 6:30 PM 

Location: N/A; videoconference 

 
 

b. Member Services Report (“MSCReport8September2020 ”) 
✳ Motion to accept the reports as presented. → Andrew / Brad (M/S/C) 

7. New Business  

a. Capacity Check-in 
● Refer to updated Action Log. 

b. Debrief of August 29 Strategic Planning Retreat 
● Roundtable: 1-2 key “take-aways.” 
● Q&A for those not present at the retreat. 
● Confirm action items based on the “Action Summary” on p.2 of (“4FolkFestMinutes29August2020 ”). 

8. Old Business 
a. Review Action Log (“EFMFS Board Action Items 2020-2021.xlsx”) 

9. Open Forum 
● N/A 

10. Items for Next Meeting (October 6, 2020) 
● Edmonton Ski Club 
● Presentation of financial actuals YTD 
● Annual planning input derived from attendance at Fall Coordinators’ Meeting 

11. Adjournment 
● 7:52 PM by Brad. 

 
Submitted by:  Claire Tunney, Secretary 

Date: September 11, 2020  
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https://drive.google.com/file/d/1noP9H9UmkUbtxTuJEUwaFsLraxekrUY5/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1dF47CeL-Zfm7GMMpt0Op7-cnZSazIGeH/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1H3njEJVlZ9dLCYE0rNxhKwS1x-T5Qxmp/view?usp=sharing


Board Members: 

Guests: Terry Wickham, Gordon Holt, Sandy Fleming 

Minutes: 

1. Call to order
● 6:41 PM by Andrew

2. Approval of Agenda
✳ Motion to approve the agenda. → Cam / Shelley (M/S/C)

3. Approval of Minutes (“ 5FolkFestMinutes8September2020”)
✳ Motion to approve the minutes of September 8, 2020. → Cam / Stu (M/S/C)

4. New Members
● N/A.

5. Correspondence
● N/A.

6. Reports
a. Producer’s Report

● Informal financial update shared with the Board. A formal update on the No-show Budget for 2020 will be
provided at the November meeting.
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Board of Directors Meeting 

Date & Time: October 6, 2020 @ 6:30 PM 

Location: N/A; videoconference 

Present (5 required for quorum) Absent 

Andrew Currie (Co-Chair) Shelley Morrison Gerrit Bjalek (Chair) 

Peter Guest Stuart Muir Brad Odsen 

Cam McCormick (Treasurer) Claire Tunney (Secretary) 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1RxouNXDIGFI1GD5xA2wL2LQPuuKWYHeg/view?usp=sharing


 

 
 

● Producer advised that EFMF forgive the Bear Creek Festival its outstanding debt (~20,000.00 for the loan 
made in 2017. The debt forgiveness would be dependent upon Bear Creek Festival paying EFMF ~$3800.00.  

○ This action would enable Bear Creek Festival to apply for future funding. 
✳ Motion to approve debt forgiveness for the Bear Creek Folk Festival. → Claire / Cam (M/S/C) 

b. Member Services Report (“MSCReport6October2020 ”) 
✳ Motion to accept the reports as presented. → Peter / Shelley(M/S/C) 

7. Edmonton Ski Club 
a. Grant Opportunity - Arts Space 

● ESC presented proposed plans for the addition of modular buildings to the Ski Club’s infrastructure and 
expressed a desire to continue discussions over the winter regarding: 

○ evolving plans for Summer 2021 and shared use of the hill;  
○ making skiing more accessible for families of EFMF volunteers; and 
○ long-term planning for further park upgrades, including: 

- electrical for the east-side of the hill; 
- drainage; and  
- a new lodge that could be used year-round by both organizations. 

8. New Business  

a. Capacity Check-in 

b. Closed Circuit Video (“CCV Surveillance Policy - DRAFT V2 (2020-09-09)”) 
● Andrew will share the Board’s initial feedback on the draft policy with Geoff and update the Board on plans for 

revisions. 

c. Presentation of financial actuals YTD 
● No update at this time. 

d. Annual planning input derived from attendance at Fall Coordinators’ Meeting 
● Update on Fall Coordinators’ Meeting to be discussed at a future meeting. 
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 Board of Directors Meeting 

Date & Time: October 6, 2020 @ 6:30 PM 

Location: N/A; videoconference 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ifGASvcysQK6Wpf2owgt7DUZER6GGHaG/view?usp=sharing


 

 
 

9. Old Business 
a. Review Action Log (“EFMFS Board Action Items 2020-2021.xlsx”) 

10. Open Forum 
● N/A 

11. Items for Next Meeting (November 3, 2020) 
● Annual planning exercise 
● Decide on Staff/Board holiday celebration 
● Set date for AGM 

12. Adjournment 
● 9:10 PM by Shelley. 

 
Submitted by:  Claire Tunney, Secretary 

Date: October 27, 2020  
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 Board of Directors Meeting 

Date & Time: October 6, 2020 @ 6:30 PM 

Location: N/A; videoconference 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1H3njEJVlZ9dLCYE0rNxhKwS1x-T5Qxmp/view?usp=sharing


Board Members: 

Guests: Terry Wickham 

Minutes: 

1. Call to order
● 6:33 PM by Gerrit

2. Approval of Agenda
✳ Motion to approve the agenda. → Peter / Stu (M/S/C)

3. Approval of Minutes (“ 6FolkFestMinutes6October2020”)
✳ Motion to approve the minutes of October 6, 2020. → Shelley / Stu (M/S/C)

4. New Members
● N/A.

5. Correspondence
● Follow-up email from Sandy Fleming regarding the Ski Club presentation received 10/07/20. See October 6, 2020

minutes for details of the presentation.

1 

Board of Directors Meeting 

Date & Time: November 3, 2020 @ 6:30 PM 

Location: N/A; videoconference 

Present (5 required for quorum) Absent 

Gerrit Bjalek (Chair) Brad Odsen Claire Tunney (Secretary) Cam McCormick (Treasurer) 

Andrew Currie (Co-Chair) Shelley Morrison 

Peter Guest Stuart Muir 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1eTCL2Qqi17RA9DyDKSzG7CBEvDtKBlzB/view?usp=sharing


 

 
 

6. Reports 
a. Producer’s Report 

● Financial update provided (“Budget 20:21 ”) 
○ Even with a “no-show” year due to COVID-19, our updated financials show the Festival is in a good 

position thanks to past decisions on staffing, office and warehouse space, and an endowment fund. 
○ While the budget is a living document, Terry indicated that he doesn’t anticipate significant changes 

either way.  
● Initial work is underway on scenario planning for 2021. 

b. Member Services Report (“MSCReport3November2020 ”) 
● The Member Services Committee proposes that EFMFS Board recommend membership fees for 2021 be 

waived and that 2020 fees already paid be extended to a two-year membership term covering 2021 for 
members remaining in good standing. 

○ This falls within the existing bylaws on fees (see page 9 ). 
✳ Motion to accept the MSC proposal 2020/2021. → Stu / Andrew (M/S/W) 

- The motion was withdrawn following consideration of alternative options. There was agreement 
to defer taking action on the question collection of membership fees until the new year. 

✳ Motion to accept the reports as presented. →Brad / Andrew (M/S/C) 

7. New Business  

a. Capacity Check-in 
 

b. Review and re-confirm top priorities for action (November 2020 - March 2021) 
● Review input from Fall Coordinator’s Meeting. 
● Confirm (and where necessary revise) objectives and identify outstanding tasks/leads for the following priority 

projects currently identified in the Action Log. 

c. Assign/delegate priorities for follow-up. 
 
 

d. Set date for AGM. 
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 Board of Directors Meeting 

Date & Time: November 3, 2020 @ 6:30 PM 

Location: N/A; videoconference 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/14zrGYQI51L0yYQmktoZOSuS6GorczI-R/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1Rmv7ZxAVkJWr9ERvyLVRWc9hOsBkiECK/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1c_GkElFzt_5_tJpHZhccG19VjTBCVe8p/view?usp=sharing


 

 
 

● Previous AGM held Sunday, April 26 at 1:00 PM via Zoom. 
● There was consensus to hold the next ZGM on Sunday, April 25.  

e. Decide on Staff/Board Holiday celebration (virtual, socially distanced or no-party) 
● No Board event this year.  

8. Old Business 
a. Review Action Log (“EFMFS Board Action Items 2020-2021.xlsx”) 
b. CCV Policy 

● Andrew is working with Geoff on revisions to the draft policy which will be shared with legal counsel before 
coming to the Board for approval. 

9. Open Forum 

10. Items for Next Meeting 

11. Adjournment 
● 8:43 PM by Brad 

 
Submitted by: Claire Tunney, Secretary 

Date: November 4, 2020  
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 Board of Directors Meeting 

Date & Time: November 3, 2020 @ 6:30 PM 

Location: N/A; videoconference 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1H3njEJVlZ9dLCYE0rNxhKwS1x-T5Qxmp/view?usp=sharing


Board of Directors Meeting

Date & Time: January 5, 2021 @ 6:30 PM

Location: N/A; videoconference

Board Members:

Present (5 required for quorum) Absent

Gerrit Bjalek (Chair) Peter Guest Stuart Muir Claire Tunney (Secretary)

Andrew Currie (Co-Chair) Shelley Morrison

Cam McCormick (Treasurer) Brad Odsen

Guests: Terry Wickham

Minutes:

1. Call to order
● 6:38 PM by Gerrit

2. Approval of Agenda
✳ Motion to approve the agenda. → Cam / Stu (M/S/C)

3. Approval of Minutes (“7FolkFestMinutes3November2020”)
✳ Motion to approve the minutes of November 3, 2020. → Brad / Andrew (M/S/C)

4. New Members
● N/A.

5. Correspondence
● N/A.

1

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1jdbs2wsqfw09PVdR0aUaIFW6tU-Z9qvy/view?usp=sharing


Board of Directors Meeting

Date & Time: January 5, 2021 @ 6:30 PM

Location: N/A; videoconference

6. Reports
a. Producer’s Report

● Reviewed anticipated 2020-2021 projected financials and the 2021-2022 no-show budget.
● Given COVID-19 vaccine rollout plans anticipating no large gatherings this summer, but open to smaller events

based on what is allowed.
● Could tighten up the documentary we did and sell it to the public.
● Might drop stage 2 and reduce from 65 to ~55 artists once fully back.
● Benefits plan is currently with the Chamber of Commerce and isn’t very good. The Festival pays half and

especially for staff with families it is problematic. Plan to review it in detail and come back with some options.
● Andrew is investigating with AGLC if we are likely to get a casino in 2021 or not.

b. Member Services Report (“MSCReport5January2021”)
● Anticipate member fees will come up at the AGM
● Having good dialogue on member appreciation – Feb 20th will be a virtual event but not on Zoom, on a more

natural platform that one of our merch providers has. There will be some videos for main stage entertainment
plus some videos highlighting some of our volunteers.

✳ Motion to accept the reports as presented. → Andrew / Cam (M/S/C)

7. New Business

a. Capacity Check-in
● Stu - Alberta Board Member Essentials sessions were very valuable, though challenging and uncomfortable.

Attending 2 more sessions. Gaining a lot of insight that will help with succession planning.

b. Review final draft of CCV Surveillance Policy (“Copy of CCV Surveillance Policy - FINAL (2021-01-05)”)
● Discussion on ability to ensure files are destroyed – to the best of our ability, not a guarantee
● This has highlighted additional work required such as signage at gates and what level of communication with

the Edmonton Ski Club as well as the creation of an Information Management policy.
✳ Motion to approve the CCV Surveillance Policy as presented. → Andrew / Cam (M/S/C)

2

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1LZP77r0xAmZex_Pbd9X4Htfiz87LmZtn/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1daZXjWrpEthGm_fs0Xv0xnTeBcePOOOt/view?usp=sharing


Board of Directors Meeting

Date & Time: January 5, 2021 @ 6:30 PM

Location: N/A; videoconference

c. Prepare for AGM
● AGM scheduled for Sunday, April 25.
● Will consider if using Zoom or the platform used at the Appreciation event (will likely use Zoom as people know

it).
● A draft agenda has been prepared (“AGM Agenda April 25, 2021 (DRAFT)”)

○ Diversity and Inclusion report by Rebecca Taylor
○ Consider putting in actual wording for a membership fee motion – some concerns that Coordinators are

getting free membership without working a Festival.
○ Likely want written reports around the March board meeting to ensure.

d. Board Self-Evaluation 2021
● Proposed Self-Evaluation Questions for 2021 (“EFMF Board Evaluation 2021”)

○ Review of 2020 Self-Evaluation Questions (“Board-Self-Evaluation-Tool-Version-III”)
● Agreement to use the evaluation as-is for this year.
● Andrew will help distribute it as a Google Form so responses will be anonymous.
● Timeline for completion - January 22 so a compiled report can be distributed before the February board

meeting.

8. Old Business
a. Review Action Log (“EFMFS Board Action Items 2020-2021.xlsx”)

9. Open Forum
● Brad does not plan to stand for re-election this AGM. Brad recommends having someone with a legal background on

the board but is unaware of any other members who are lawyers would be Percy. Andrew mentioned Jessica
Crowdfoot who is a lawyer and considered running last year and may run this year.

● Peter does not plan to stand for re-election this AGM.
● Shelley mentioned Chelsea has joined the DAI Committee.
● Andrew brought up WFFC but believe Calgary received grant money to host it this year. Andrew will reach out to

Marianne to get an update.
● Cam meeting Richard this week. Trying to review what we have for financial policies.

3

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1mB0n0QpTqKhwsw_fad-OYymthSBsuZD3/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1UpO19A5ioSaSMGu6Rno-8yGyS37oUl63/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1tr9EqmudUQFSXsJo1xkZIN9lwjSrLJic/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1H3njEJVlZ9dLCYE0rNxhKwS1x-T5Qxmp/view?usp=sharing


Board of Directors Meeting

Date & Time: January 5, 2021 @ 6:30 PM

Location: N/A; videoconference

10. Items for Next Meeting
● Prepare for AGM:

﹣ Confirm which committees will submit reports
﹣ Confirm responsibility for reports
﹣ Assign responsibility for specific AGM items (see AGM Checklist: Section 9.7)
﹣ Notify members of candidates and distribute biographical information
﹣ Prepare any suggested bylaw changes
﹣ Invite new candidates to attend Board meeting

● Review EFMFS Board Evaluation results
● WFFC attendance

11. Adjournment
● 8:28 PM by Cam

Submitted by: Peter Guest

Date: January 5, 2021
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Board of Directors Meeting

Date & Time: February 2, 2021 @ 6:30 PM

Location: N/A; videoconference

Board Members:

Present (5 required for quorum) Absent

Andrew Currie (Co-Chair) Peter Guest Stuart Muir Gerrit Bjalek (Chair)

Cam McCormick (Treasurer) Shelley Morrison

Claire Tunney (Secretary) Brad Odsen

Guests: Terry Wickham

Minutes:

1. Call to order
● 6:36 PM by Andrew

2. Approval of Agenda
✳ Motion to approve the agenda. → Cam / Shelley (M/S/C)

3. Approval of Minutes (“8FolkFestMinutes5January2021”)
✳ Motion to approve the minutes of January 5, 2020. → Stu/Peter (M/S/C)

4. New Members
✴ Motion to approve the following:

- Family membership for Peter Roland and Helen Roland
- Individual individual membership for Torrey Dance→ Brad/Claire (M/S/C)

5. Correspondence
● N/A.

1

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1AnZS5kSH7S5s9I8gOyHIgdxDGWYEgHfs/view?usp=sharing


Board of Directors Meeting

Date & Time: February 2, 2021 @ 6:30 PM

Location: N/A; videoconference

6. Reports
a. Producer’s Report

● Preparing contingencies for 2021; however, with the pace of the vaccine rollout, it is likely we’ll be unable to
host an in-person event. Terry will be sending a letter to society members to this effect in the next couple
months.

b. Member Services Report (“MSCReport2February2021”)
● Placeholder

✳ Motion to accept the reports as presented. → Cam / Brad (M/S/C)

7. New Business

a. Capacity Check-in

b. Prepare for AGM
● Claire to confirm Zoom membership upgrade for AGM.
● Claire to check-in with Marianne re: note-taker.

c. Review Board Self-Evaluation 2021 results (“EFMF Board Evaluation 2021 Results”)
● Discussion deferred until March meeting.

d. WFFC attendance
● Andrew conveyed to Marianne the Board’s desire to participate if the event goes ahead.
● There has been some discussion around having a condensed version, virtually; however this may not

materialize for this year.
● Marianne shared that informal contact and information sharing between individual area folks has been

occurring since the onset of COVID.
○ The Board will be informed if anything around WFFC comes up again.

8. Old Business
a. Review Action Log (“EFMFS Board Action Items 2020-2021.xlsx”)
b. Presentation of the Vision Statement refresh project report - Andrew

● Andrew provided an update on Phase 1 of the EFMFS Vision/Mission/Values Refresh project.

2

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1O_le7pj2pUzuKZWLbuHQ4xOp3bileDxk/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1VUqlY-VrfsYNabvzOnvwd5Y1HM6q0V9I/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1H3njEJVlZ9dLCYE0rNxhKwS1x-T5Qxmp/view?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1lHjDT0UWioTi0BLYzaKz9tHgm3Ftv1dcyMuzd0lULas/edit?usp=sharing


Board of Directors Meeting

Date & Time: February 2, 2021 @ 6:30 PM

Location: N/A; videoconference

● A request for input regarding our current Vision Statement -- “To remain a global leader as a community-based
Folk Music Festival” -- was sent to the membership in November, and again in January.

● Based on the discussion at the board retreat on August 29, 2020, and the membership responses received, a
refreshed Vision statement has been created:

○ “To lead as a volunteer driven community organization, producing a globally recognized
festival. Providing inspiration, and celebrating the diversity of folk music and our community.”

● The refreshed Vision statement will be shared with the membership at the upcoming AGM.
● The second phase of this project will look at the organisation’s Mission statement which has the opportunity to

be more detailed.

9. Open Forum

10. Items for Next Meeting
● Prepare for AGM:

○ Approve Visual Image
○ Approve AGM Agenda
○ Evaluate Board results for the Year
○ Progress report on priorities
○ Identify priorities continuing into next Board year
○ Invite new candidates for Board status to attend Board meeting

11. Adjournment
● 8:28 PM by Brad

Submitted by: Claire Tunney

Date: February 6, 2021
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Board of Directors Meeting
Date & Time: March 2, 2021 @ 6:30 PM

Location: N/A; videoconference

Board Members:

Present (5 required for quorum) Absent

Gerrit Bjalek (Chair) Claire Tunney (Secretary) Shelley Morrison

Andrew Currie (Co-Chair) Peter Guest Stuart Muir

Cam McCormick (Treasurer) Brad Odsen

Guests: Terry Wickham; Rebecca Taylor

Minutes:

1. Call to order
● 6:31 PM by Gerrit Bjalek

2. Approval of Agenda
✳ Motion to approve the agenda. → Peter / Andrew (M/S/C)

3. Diversity and Inclusion Advisory Committee Report (“DIAI-Committee_Report_2021-02-27”)
✳ Motion to approve DIAI Committee ToR. → Cam/ Shelley (M/S/C)

4. Approval of Minutes (“9FolkFestMinutes2February2021”)
✳ Motion to approve the minutes of February 2, 2021. → Brad / Stu (M/S/C)

5. New Members
● N/A

1

https://drive.google.com/file/d/15JMFvLZEIF4jyjdCkSAk_f2-CO_p0Mej/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1qlqQYVkVS4V57poByRDg5QCW1hYVZkQy/view?usp=sharing


Board of Directors Meeting
Date & Time: March 2, 2021 @ 6:30 PM

Location: N/A; videoconference

6. Correspondence
● Email from Bob Meyer re: LRT Committee Terms of Reference (“LRT Liaison Committee - Ad Hoc (Mar 1 2021) ToR”)

○ No changes or revisions to the Terms of Reference are required at this time.
○ No LRT stakeholder meetings have been held since late March 2020. As such, Bob’s last LRT report to the

Board was on April 3, 2020.
○ TransEd published some general progress reports last summer and fall, but overall, there has been very little

information forthcoming that directly involves the Festival.
✳ Motion to approve the LRT Liaison Committee - Ad Hoc ToR (Mar 1 2021) → Peter / Andrew (M/S/C)

7. Reports
a. Producer’s Report (“No Show Budget Jan 2021-22”)

✳ Motion to Cancel the 2021 Festival → Peter / Brad (M/S)
✳ Motion to table to April meeting → Andrew / Carried

b. Member Services Report (“MSCReport2March2021”)
✳ Motion to accept the reports as presented. → Andrew / Cam (M/S/C)

8. New Business

a. Capacity Check-in

b. Prepare for AGM
● Confirm deadline for completion of reports

○ Reports to be completed by March 31, 2021 and
● Approve agenda (“AGM Agenda April 25, 2021”)

○ Tabled to April meeting.
● FAQ Document for new Board Members (“EFMFS Board FAQs”)
● Progress report on priorities
● Identify priorities continuing into the next Board year
● Invite new candidates for Board status to attend Board meeting

2

https://drive.google.com/file/d/17ynnxVyvrrLEJCb6tdmA2_xlW2ZJ4Bs8/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/drive/u/2/folders/1OIrMXrmUj_wuLoLbUMVq5Wgm2w7tNsbr
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1z48qmulqr9pQwf4Q3ETJgMg-Peui5hIj/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1Xcjxc1zSks9UqN-kf6bL7K8SzC6BJPRH/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1drb6gU5lnwYJRDw4oJH-Hw3GMIcrwC0y/view?usp=sharing


Board of Directors Meeting
Date & Time: March 2, 2021 @ 6:30 PM

Location: N/A; videoconference

9. Old Business
a. Review Board Self-Evaluation 2021 results (“EFMF Board Evaluation 2021 Results”)
b. Review Action Log (“EFMFS Board Action Items 2020-2021.xlsx”)

10. Open Forum
✴ Motion to approve revisions to CCV policy as requested by the City of Edmonton. → Andrew /PeterM/S/C

○ Point of order re: PIPPA / FOIPP
● Recent changes to the Charitable Fund-raising Act will require any new Executive Committee members for 2021/22 to

provide a Criminal Record / Police Information Check when submitting our annual return.

11. Items for Next Meeting
● Complete discussion of Board Self-Evaluation results.
● Finalize reports for AGM.
● Run-through AGM agenda.

12. Adjournment
● 8:46 PM by Claire Tunney.

Submitted by: Claire Tunney, Secretary

Date: March 4, 2021
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https://drive.google.com/file/d/1VUqlY-VrfsYNabvzOnvwd5Y1HM6q0V9I/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1H3njEJVlZ9dLCYE0rNxhKwS1x-T5Qxmp/view?usp=sharing
https://canlii.ca/t/81t0
https://cfr.forms.gov.ab.ca/Form/CONP0161.pdf
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THE EDMONTON FOLK MUSIC FESTIVAL SOCIETY 
 

CONSOLIDATED AMENDED BY-LAWS UP TO AND INCLUDING MAY 17, 2018 
 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
The By-Laws of the Edmonton Folk Music Festival Society (hereinafter referred to as the EFMFS) 
shall govern the affairs and activities of the EFMFS. 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

1. Application for membership in the EFMFS shall be open to all persons who are 16 years 
of age or older. 

2.  

a) The Members of the EFMFS shall have completed two years of service as a volunteer for 
the EFMFS and shall be an active or inactive volunteer in good standing. All Members will 
subscribe to the Objectives and Bylaws of the Society and will conduct themselves in a 
way which represents the best interests of the festival. Loss of volunteer status due to a 
breach of the Volunteer Code of Ethics will mean automatic cancellation of Membership. 

b)  If any Member who is also a Director and Board Officer loses Membership status for any 
reason, the loss of Membership status will mean automatic removal from the position of 
Director and Board Officer. 

3.  

a) All applications for Membership shall be submitted to the Executive Committee and upon 
approval the applicant shall become a Member. 

b) An applicant who has been refused membership by the Executive Committee may at a 
general meeting resubmit the application to the general membership who may, with a 2/3 
majority vote of those present, accept the application. 

4. The Membership year coincides with the fiscal year (February 1 to January 31) and the 
annual Membership fee shall be determined by the members.  Membership fees are 
payable by the AGM in order to maintain Membership in good standing.  

5. The membership of the EFMFS shall be composed of the following types of members 
only: 

a)  

i. Not more than fifty-five members who are members in good standing of the 
EFMF in its capacity as a not-for-profit company under the Companies Act 
of Alberta on the date of the incorporation of the EFMFS as a society under 
the Societies Act of Alberta including all paid up members and all special 
life members. 
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ii. Special life members shall be entitled to two full weekend guest privileges 
at the annual Festival and two free admissions to any EFMFS function as 
long as they remain in good standing pursuant to these By-Laws. 

iii. All memberships under By-Law 5(a) are non-transferable and terminate 
upon the death of the member, voluntary resignation of the member, 
expulsion of the member or failure by the member to pay the annual 
membership fee. 

b) No employee of the EFMFS can exercise their voting privileges as a member while 
employed by the EFMFS. 

c) Any and all other persons who may apply for membership and be approved by the 
Executive Committee who have paid the annual membership fee as determined 
herein. 

d) Each member shall have one (1) vote if their membership is in good standing. 
 

CONDITIONS OF EXPULSION 

6.  

a) The Directors shall have the power, by a three-quarters majority, to expel or 
suspend any member whose conduct shall have been determined to be 
improper, unbecoming or likely to endanger the interest or reputation of the 
EFMFS or who wilfully commits a breach of the Constitution or By-Laws of the 
EFMFS. 

b) No member shall be expelled or suspended without being notified of the charge 
or complaint against him/her and without being given an opportunity to be heard 
by the Directors at a meeting called for that purpose. The expelled or suspended 
member may apply for reinstatement at a meeting of the EFMFS. A two-thirds 
majority of those present may reinstate a member. 

7.  

a) The membership shall have the power, by a three-quarters (3/4) majority of 
those present at any duly-called meeting to expel or suspend any elected Board 
member whose conduct shall have been determined to be improper, 
unbecoming or likely to endanger the interest or reputation of the EFMFS or 
who wilfully commits a breach of the Constitution or By-Laws of the EFMFS. 

b) No Board member shall be expelled or suspended without being notified of the 
charge or complaint against him/her and without being given an opportunity to 
be heard by the Members at a duly-called meeting.  

8. Any member who withdraws or is expelled from the EFMFS shall forthwith forfeit all right, 
claim and interest arising from or associated with membership in the EFMFS. Any member 
may withdraw by giving written notice to the secretary. 
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MEETINGS 
 

9. The Annual General Meeting shall be held by April 30 in each year at a place and time 
determined by the Board of Directors, with not less that fourteen (14) days’ notice, to the 
Membership. 

10. Whenever, under the provisions of these Bylaws, Notice is required to be given, it may be 
given personally or by facsimile transmission or sent through the public mail service or 
electronically. For the purpose of sending notice the address of a Member shall be that 
recorded in the Membership books of the EFMFS. 

11. A quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of members shall consist of not 
less than twenty-five members. 

12. Proxy voting shall not be permitted. 

13. The procedure at any meeting shall be in accord with Robert's Rules of Order. 
 

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
 
 

14. As far as is practicable, every Annual General Meeting shall have the following items on its 
agenda: 
 

a) Reports on Operations and Policies of the EFMFS; 
b) Presentation of the auditors’ report for the past fiscal year; 
c) Selection of Auditor for next fiscal year; 
d) Election of Directors; 
e) Open Forum with full speaking privileges for Members and other persons invited 

by the Board to speak to the Members; and 
f) Such other business as may arise from time to time. 

 
OTHER MEETINGS 

 
 
15. Other Meetings of the Members, may be convened by Order of the Board at times and 
places determined by the Board. A Special Meeting shall be called upon written request to the 
Board signed by not less than twenty-five (25) Members. 
 

a) A Meeting of the Members may be convened at any time by Order of the Board 
at times and places determined by the Board, 

 
b) The Rules for Special Meetings shall be the same as for any other Meeting of the 

EFMFS Members. 
 

The only items on the Agenda for a Special Meeting shall be those items specifically set out in 
the Members’ Request for a Special Meeting. 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

16. The affairs of the EFMFS shall be managed by a Board of Directors of nine (9) directors. 
The first Directors of the EFMFS shall be appointed by the subscribers hereto and shall be the 
Directors of the EFMFS in its capacity as a Society to a maximum of nine (9) Directors with their 
terms of office governed in these Bylaws. 

17. The First Board of Directors of the EFMFS shall be composed of three (3) directors who 
will serve for a period of one (1) year, three (3) directors who will serve for a period of two (2) 
years and three (3) directors who will serve for a period of three (3) years. 

18.  

a) Subsequent to the first year of the operation of the EFMFS, there shall be elected a 
minimum of three (3) directors who shall hold their offices for a period of three 
consecutive years. 

b) Vacancies on The Board of Directors, however caused, may, so long as a quorum of 
directors remain in office, be filled by the directors from among the members of the 
EFMFS. If there is not a quorum of directors the remaining directors shall forthwith call 
a meeting of the membership of the members to fill the vacancy. 

c) Any directors who have been appointed by The Board of Directors shall hold their office 
only until the next Annual General Meeting at which time elections shall be held to fill 
any such vacant directorships. 

d) Newly-elected directors under By-Law 18(c) shall hold office only for the balance of the 
term of the director's position they are filling. 

e) The purpose of this By-Law in respect to directors is to ensure that at least a minimum 
of three (3) directors are elected every year for a period of three (3) years. 

19. A director once his/her term has expired is eligible for election. 

20. The election of directors shall be by secret ballot. 

21.  

a) Only Members of the EFMFS can stand for election as Directors.  A Director shall cease 
to be a Director at the time they cease to be a Member. 

b) Members who are or have been or who become employees of the EFMFS in any one 
or more of the following executive management positions including but not limited to 
the Producer, Manager of Volunteers, Administrator, Production Manager, Technical 
Director, Kitchen Manager, or any equivalent position, however described, upon leaving 
such employment are not eligible to stand for election to the Board of Directors for the 
period of five years following the end of their employment. 

22. The directors of the EFMFS shall be responsible for the administration of the affairs of the 
EFMFS. 
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23. 
a) Quorum of a Meeting of the Board of Directors shall consist of no fewer than five (5) 

Directors present in person or electronically. 
b) Notice of Board Meeting is not required if all Directors are present or those who are 

absent have signified in writing electronically, or by telephone their consent to the 
meeting being held in their absence. 

c) The Chair, Vice-Chair or Secretary shall call a Meeting of the Board on direction of two 
directors. 

d) The Board of Directors shall meet at least six (6) times a year as determined by the 
Board. 

e) If, at any meeting of five (5) or more Board members, it is determined by simple majority 
vote that one of the Directors is not performing his or her duties in accordance with the 
By-Laws, that Director shall be removed from the Board of Directors forthwith. 

f) A Director removed by 23 (e) shall retain their right of appeal as set out in these By-
Laws. 

24. Questions arising at a meeting of directors shall be decided by a majority vote.  The 
Chairperson shall only vote in the case of a tie.  

25. 

a) Except for benefits as set out in the current Board Policy guidelines conferred upon a 
Director or Board Officer as a result of him or her being a Member and Volunteer, no 
Director or Board Officer shall receive any remuneration from the EFMFS for services 
rendered. 

b) A Director Board Officer may be reimbursed for legitimate expenses incurred in the course 
of carrying out his or her duties upon provision of receipts for said expenses and subject 
to approval by the Board. 

26. Directors shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted by them in good faith, for the 
acts of any agent, employee or attorney selected by the Directors with reasonable care, 
or for any acts or omissions of any other Director. 

 
OFFICERS 

 

27. From their number the Directors shall elect, within two (2) weeks of the Annual General 
Meeting, an Executive Committee consisting of a Chair, Vice-Chair, Secretary and 
Treasurer, who shall carry on the business of the EFMFS between Meetings of the EFMFS 
and meetings of the Board, in accord with the policies and directions of the Board. Any 
two (2) Members of the Executive Committee, or one Member of the Executive Committee 
plus the Executive Director shall have signing authority for the EFMFS. 

28. The duties of the Officers shall be as follows: 

a) The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings of the executive committee and 
Board and at all general meetings of the EFMFS.  She/he shall see that all 
resolutions and orders of the board are carried into effect.  She/he shall be ex-
officio a member of all committees, and she/he shall have a casting vote in case 
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of a tie. She/he will prepare and submit to the EFMFS at the annual meeting a 
statement and report of the preceding year. 

b) The Vice-Chairperson shall in the absence or disability of the Chairperson perform 
the duties and exercise the powers of the Chairperson and shall perform other 
duties as from time to time be imposed upon and by the Board. Should the 
Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson both be absent or disabled, the performance 
of their powers and duties shall be delegated to a Chairperson appointed by the 
Board. 

c) It shall be the duty of the Secretary to attend all meetings of the EFMFS and of the 
Board and to keep or cause to be kept accurate minutes of the same . The 
Secretary shall also keep or cause to be kept a record of all the members of the 
EFMFS and their addresses and shall give or cause to be given all notices of 
various meetings as required. In case of the absence of the Secretary, his/her 
duties shall be discharged by such officer as may be appointed by the Board. 

d) The Treasurer shall present a full detailed account of receipts and disbursements 
to the Board whenever requested and shall prepare for submission to the Annual 
General Meeting a financial statement as hereinafter set forth of the financial 
position of the EFMFS and submit a copy of same to the Secretary for the records 
of the EFMFS. 

29. 

a) The Board of Directors may from time to time appoint further officers, professional 
consultants, committees and agents, and authorize the employment of such persons 
(“Employed Officer”) as they deem necessary to carry out the objects of the EFMF and 
such officers, professional consultants, committees, agents and employees shall have 
such authority and shall perform such duties from time to time as may be prescribed by 
the Board. 

b) If, at any meeting of five (5) or more Board members, it is determined by simple majority 
vote that any Employed Officer is not performing his or her duties, that Employed Officer 
shall have his or her position as an Employed Officer terminated in accordance with best 
employment practices. 

AUDITS AND ACCOUNTS 
 

30. The objectives of the EFMFS shall be carried out without pecuniary gain to its members 
and no dividends shall be declared or paid. Any profits or accretion to the EFMFS shall be 
used in promoting its objects. This provision is unalterable. 

31. 

a) The accounts of the EFMFS shall be audited at the end of each fiscal year and the 
Board shall appoint an auditor or auditors to hold office annually. 

b) The fiscal year shall be from February 1 to January 31. 
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32. The auditors of the EFMFS shall have the right of access at all reasonable times to all 
records, documents, books, accounts and files of the EFMFS and shall be entitled to 
require from the directors such information and explanation as may be necessary for the 
purpose of the duties of the auditors. 

33. The books and records of the EFMFS may be inspected by any member of the EFMFS at 
the Annual Meeting or at any time upon giving reasonable notice and arranging a time 
satisfactory to the officer or officers having charge of same. Each member of the Board 
shall at all times have access to such books and records. 

34. In the event of dissolution or winding up of the EFMFS, all assets remaining after the 
payment of any just debts and obligations will be given to a society with similar objects, 
provided it is a recognized Canadian charitable organization, or distributed to one or more  
recognized charitable organizations in Canada. 

 
SEAL 

 

35. The Board shall adopt a seal which shall be the common seal of the EFMFS and may from 
time to time by resolution provide for its custody and use. 

 
AMENDMENTS 

 

36. The By-Laws of the EFMFS shall not be repealed or altered or added to except as follows: 

a) A special resolution passed by a three-fourths (3/4) majority vote of the members 
present passed at a special meeting or a general meeting of which not less than twenty-
one (21) days' notice specifying the intention to propose the resolution has been duly 
given containing the actual text of the proposed By-Law change; 

b) By a resolution proposed and passed as a special resolution at a general or special 
meeting of which less than twenty-one (21) days' notice has been given, if all of the 
members entitled to attend and vote at the General Meeting so agree; or, 

c) A resolution consented to in writing by all of the members who would have been entitled 
at a general or special meeting to vote on the resolution in person. 

 
BORROWING CLAUSE 

 

37. For the purpose of carrying out the objects of the EFMFS, the Directors may borrow or 
raise or secure the payment of money in such manner as they think fit. 

 
INTERPRETATION 

 

38. In these By-Laws unless the context otherwise required, words imputing the singular 
number of the masculine gender shall include the plural number or the feminine gender 
as the case may be, or vice versa and reference to persons shall include individuals, firms, 
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corporations, other organizations and societies. Reference to a majority shall mean a 
simple majority unless otherwise stated. 

 
Name Address Occupation 
Ed Thumath Edmonton ______________________ 
Kim Larsen Edmonton ______________________ 
Maureen McCaw Edmonton ______________________ 
Wayne H.V. Tookey Edmonton ______________________ 
Donna Johnston Edmonton ______________________ 
Witness: ______________________ ______________________ 

        Percival E. Odynak 
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